SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COPY

CHRISTY HITT

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SEP 15 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

2006-KA-1474-COA NO-2006-KA-0084-NS-G

Appeal from Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr. Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 178
Newton, MS 39345
(601) 683-3387
MS. Bar No.

Oral argument not requested.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

CHRISTY HITT

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-KA-0084-NS-G

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 2. The Misstating in the Indictment of an Essential part of the crime charged was reversible Error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Christy Hitt, appeals her conviction by the Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, of simple assault on a police officer in Neshoba County, Mississippi, and a sentence of 3 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Two (2) City of Philadelphia, Mississippi Police Officers went to the home of Brett Fox to arrest Appellant for failure to pay delinquent fines. (T-28). Police Officer Cliff Moore testified:

And she - - she stated her left arm was hurt, so she put out her right arm Then, at that time, I took my handcuffs out, put it on her right arm, and whenever it clicked she snatched away from me, and I tried to grab the cuffs and detain her at the same time. We wrestled around there for a little bit. We fell to the inside of the door, the entrance to the house. We got stood up and I was trying to get her cuffed. She snatched away from me again. She swung at me. I seen it coming. I ducked, and Officer Estess was behind me and that's when he got - - he got hit with the cuffs.

Police Officer Patrick Estess testified as follows (T-41):

- Q. Officer Estess, at the point where you got hit in your eye, can you describe for me where you were standing in relation to Officer Moore and to Christy?
- A. Do In need to stand up for that?
- Q. That'd be great. However you can explain it best.
- A. Okay. Like - I'm - like this is the doorway to the home. The car's sitting right here - parked right here in the carport. Officer Moore is like right in here, almost in the threshold of the doorway, which Christy's got her back to him, which she's in the threshold of the doorway, and I'm standing just - you know, within half an arm's length of Officer Moore.
- Q. Okay. So, would you describe yourself as standing behind him?
- A. Uh-huh.

- Q. Okay. Now as I read your report -- you did file a report about this incident. Correct?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you described what happened is, she resisted by pulling away.
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. And, at that point, you were actually -- there was a officer between you and her?
- A. That's correct.

Officer Estess did not receive treatment for his injuries Appellant testified:(T-50-51):

- Q. Okay. Now, where were you in relation to the house when Cliff was in front of you and Patrick was behind you?
- A. Okay. We was up under the carport, and Debra had her Mustang pulled up. I was like standing right in front of the left side of - in the passenger side of headlight, and Cliff was kind of like right at the fender of the car, and - uh - Patrick was behind me.
- Q. Okay. And what happened?
- A. Uh -whenever he went to put it on my left arm and I - you know, I flinched, because I've got - you know, a real bad scar and it - uh -
- Q. Okay. What happened - why do you have a scar on your left arm?
- A. Uh - I had a head-on -
- Q. If you will, raise your sleeve and show that to the jury so they can see the scar there.

WITNESS RAISES SLEEVE

- A. I had a head-on wreck and -- uh -- I've got six screws, my arm was crushed, and -- uh -- the screw's backing out of it, and its gets on the nerve, and it hurts real bad.
- Q. So, tell me again what happened with the handcuffs?
- A. When he went and put it - when he went to put it on my arm, I snatched back and Patrick -
- Q. Okay. Now, you told me that you've read the officer's reports.
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you've heard their testimony today.
- A. Yes, sir.

- Q. Okay. Do you agree that their reports say that it was their - your right arm that he attempted to handcuff?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. So you're - you don't agree with that?
- A. I don't. No.
- Q. You're saying it was your left arm?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And what did you do when he attempted to put handcuffs on your left arm?
- A. I snatched back - you know.
- Q. Show me the direction your arm went.
- A. Back.
- Q. Okay. What happened when you snatched you arm back like that?
- A. Uh - he - he grabbed me and grabbed my left arm and threw me on the hood of the Mustang.
- Q. Okay. Do you know when Patrick Estess got struck?
- A. I had no idea he got struck because he was standing behind me.
- Q. Is it possible that later on, during interaction with the officers, is when he got struck?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Okay. Have you apologized to Patrick Estess?
- A. Yes, sir. I wrote him a letter, an apology letter, and - uh
 - told him - you know, that I respect the police officers, and
 I was sorry that it happened and -you know - uh - that - uh
 if I was going to get any consequences I deserved them, but I did
 not - it was a total accident in him getting hit - you know, and I
 was very sorry about him getting hit in the eye.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. To sustain a conviction the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crime charged.
- An indictment that misstates the facts constituting an element of the crime charged is substantively defective and a conviction under it must be overturned.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The burden is on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crime charged and every material allegations of the crime charged. Johnson v. Florida, 391 U.S. 596, 88 S. Ct. 1713, 20 L. Ed. 2d 838 (1968); Thompson v. City of Louisville, 362 U.S. 199, 805. Ct. 624, 4L. Ed. 2d 654 (1980).

The necessity of proof by the prosecution beyond a reasonable doubt is guaranteed by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 361 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368, 373 (1970).

In the case before the Court, Appellant's testimony was that, if she did strike police officer Estess, her doing so was accidental. The testimony of the police officers was that she tried to strike one officer and, instead, hit the other one.

According to the testimony of the officers, Appellant and Officer Moore were facing each other at a time when Appellant had a handcuff on her right wrist only and when Estess was behind Moore approximately one-half an arm's length. Assuming a length of chain between the cuffs of two to three inches, the width of the cuff and the length of the chain would have been approximately six inches.

Moore testified (T-28):

She swung at me. I seen it coming. I ducked, and Officer Estess was behind me and that's when he got -- he got hit with the cuffs.

Officer Estess testified (T-39):

"He placed a cuff on her right wrist, and she started screaming something about her wrist was hurting. She jerked away from him and - - uh - - when she did, she turned around and swung, and he - - he ducked and, of course, I was standing behind him that's when I got struck in the - - struck in the eye with the handcuffs."

Adding the distance between Appellant and Officer Moore, the thickness of Moore's body and the distance between Moore and Estess results in a distance much in excess of Appellant's reach.

Appellant's explanation, that the cuffs were placed on her left arm which had been injured in an automobile accident and which had had six screws inserted in it to hold the bones together, that the pain resulting from placing the handcuffs on it caused her involuntarily to jerk her left arm back, and that Estess was standing behind her and must have been struck when she accidentally jerked her arm back, is much more compatible with the physical facts.

Proof of intent to harm is required by Sec. 97-35-7 (1)(a), Miss. Code of 1972, the statute under which Appellant was charged, and the indictment alleged that Appellant "purposely and knowingly caused bodily injury." (C.P.3).

Accident is therefore a defense to this charge and a much more likely cause of Estess's genuinely minor injury (he did not require any medical treatment) than an attempt by Appellant to injure either policeman.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt of intent to injure was not made and the verdict should be overturned.

THE MISSTATING IN THE INDICTMENT OF AN ESSENTIAL PART OF THE CRIME CHARGED WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The indictment in the case before the Court charges that Appellant (C.P.3):

did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, purposely and knowingly
caused bodily injury to Patrick Estes, a human being, and an
officer with the Philadelphia Police Department, Philadelphia,
Mississippi, while the said Patrick Estes was acting within the
scope of his duty as a law enforcement officer with the
Philadelphia Police Department, Philadelphia, Mississippi,
by striking Patrick Estes in the face, contrary to and in violation
of Section 97-3-7(1)(a), Miss. Code Ann. (1972),

The testimony of two police officers was the only testimony presented by the prosecution. They testified that Appellant tried to strike one officer and, instead, hit the other one.

The indictment allegation that Appellant "purposely and knowingly caused bodily injure" to Officer Estess is an allegation that Appellant attempted to strike Estess.

URCCC T.06 provides that an indictment:

shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fairly notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution entitles an accused "to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation against him."

For an indictment to be sufficient, it must allege all essential elements of the crime charged. Peterson v. State, 671 So. 2d 647, 653-655 (Miss. 1996). In Peterson, at p. 653, the Mississippi Supreme Court quoted with approval from Love v. State, 211 Miss. 606, 611, 52 So. 2d 470, 472 (Miss. 1971) the following:

> It is fundamental . . . that an indictment, to be effective as such, must set forth the constituent elements of a criminal offense; if the facts alleged do not constitute such an offense within the terms and meaning of the law or laws on which the accusation is based, or if the facts alleged may all be true and yet constitute no offense, the indictment is insufficient

Every material fact and essential ingredient of the offense

 every essential element of the offense – must be alleged with precision and certainty, or, as has been stated, every fact which is an element in a prima facie case of guilt must be stated in the indictment. See ibid, secs, 51-63,

79: 42 C.J.S., Indictments and Information, Sections 130-137-198. (Emphasis added). Love v. State, 211 Miss. At 611, 52 So. 2d at 472.

Accord: Stinson v. State. 443 So. 2d 869, 873 (Miss. 1983): May v. State, 209 Miss. 579, 584, 47 So. 2d 887 (Miss. 1950).

Sec. 97-35-7(1)(a) Miss. Code of 1972, the provision of law under which

Appellant was indicted, requires knowing intent to injure someone or reckless injuring.

Appellant was indicted for knowing, purposeful ("purposely and knowingly") striking

Officer Estess. The indictment describes an attempt to injure Estess. The only

prosecution testimony described an attempt to strike Officer Moore.

Unless the indictment alleges recklessness the statute <u>requires</u> an effort to injure a specific person. The indictment wrongly identifies that person as Estess. Because the intent is an essential element of the crime of simple assault it must be alleged in the indictment and is a substantive element of the indictment. Mississippi jurisprudence distinguishes between formal and substantial defects in indictments, and holds that formal errors must be demurred to and substantive errors may be brought to the attention of the Court for the first time on appeal. Brewer v. State, 351 So. 2d 535 (Miss. 1977); Copeland v State, 423 So. 2d 1333, 1336, 1337 (Miss. 1982). In Copeland, on p. 133 b, the Court held that:

A substantive defect in an indictment cannot be cured by extrinsic proof and is not waived by failure to demure thereto.

Emphasis supplied.

This Appellant's failure at trial to call the defect to the Court's attention does not prevent his objection to it now.

The right of an accused to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation against him or her includes the requirement that an indictment contain all the essential elements of the offense charged. As a result of the indictment's stating that Appellant "purposely and knowingly" struck Estess, Appellant reasonably could have prepared and relied on a defense that she had no intent to strike Estess. Thus she did not have the actual notice to prepare her defense properly.

CONCLUSION

The misstating in the indictment of an essential part of the crime charged was reversible error.

The verdict should be overturned.