IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHRISTY HITT

VS.

.

FILED

DEC 18 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1474

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Christy Hitt was convicted in the Circuit Court of Neshoba County on a charge of simple assault on a law enforcement officer and was sentenced to a term of three years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with one year suspended. (C.P.16-17) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against her, Hitt has perfected an appeal to this Court.

Substantive Facts

On December 8, 2005, Officer Cliff Moore and Officer Patrick Estess of the Philadelphia Police Department went to the residence of Brett Fox to arrest Christy Hitt pursuant to an "active warrant." When Hitt came to the door, the officers told her that they had "a warrant for her arrest for failure to pay old fines." They asked her to accompany them to the patrol car, but Hitt resisted, insisting that she needed "to go back inside to see the kid, or kids ... " (T.26-27) According to Officer Moore,

1

And at that time she come down to the steps and ... we was going to take her and put her in the patrol car... and ... she says, I want to see my kids again. We kept telling her and telling her, Christy, come on, we got a warrant for your arrest. It's failure to pay old fines, a thousand and something dollars. And she said... you been wanting to do this for a long time. And she ... stated her left arm was hurt, so she put out her right arm. Then, at that time, I took my handcuffs out, put it on her right arm, and whenever it clicked she snatched away from me, and I tried to grab the cuffs and detain her at the same time. We wrestled around there for a little bit. We fell to the inside of the door, the entrance to the house. We got stood up and I was trying to get her cuffed. She snatched away from me again. She swung at me. I seen it coming. I ducked, and Officer Estess was behind me and that's when he got... hit with the cuffs.

(T.28)

Officer Moore heard Estess groan and saw him "laid over across the hood of the car which

was under the carport." Officer Moore ultimately "got her other arm and cuffed her."

Thereafter, the officers "had to forcefully walk her back to the car."¹ (T.29)

On redirect examination, the prosecutor asked Officer Moore, '[D]id she swing her

arm, and therefore the handcuff hit Officer Estess, or was she putting her arm away from

you and it hit Officer Estess?" Officer Moore answered, "She swung."² (T.35)

Officer Estess corroborated Officer Moore's testimony about the events leading up

to this assault. (T.37-39) He described what happened next as follows:

And ... so, he [Officer Moore] placed a cuff on her right wrist, and she started screaming something about her wrist was hurting. She jerked away from him and ... when she did,

¹Officer Moore testified that Britt Fox's wife, Hitt's aunt, was at the house and available to care for Hitt's young child. (T.29)

²Officer Moore also testified that he and Officer Estess did not plan originally to handcuff Hitt; they did so only after she became "belligerent and non-cooperative." (T.35-36)

she turned around and swung, and ... he ducked and, of course, I was standing behind him, it was in a small space in the carport. The car was parked here and the door to the house was right there. And, of course, that's when I got struck in the eye... with the handcuffs.

(T.39)

All the while, Hitt was uttering "some profanity." (T.39)

Officer Estess suffered blurry vision for "somewhere close to an hour" after he was

struck. He "went home and kept ice on it [his eye] overnight to keep the swelling down."

(T.40-41)

Hitt testified that her left arm had been badly injured in a car crash. When the officers attempted to put a cuff on that arm, she flinched in pain and "snatched back." She had "no idea" how Officer Estess "got struck." (T.50-51)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Accordingly,

the trial court did not err in overruling the defendant's motion for new trial.

Hitt's challenge to the sufficiency of the indictment has no merit.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The first issue presented on this appeal is whether the trial court erred in overruling the motion for new trial on the ground that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (C.P.34, 37) To prevail on this point, Hitt must satisfy the rigorous standard set out below:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182. **"This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible."** *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

(emphasis added) *Smith v. State*, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss.App.2004),

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). **"It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief."** *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) *Ford v. State*, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App.1999).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility

of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." Kohlberg v. State, 704

So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As this Court recently reitereated in Hales v. State, 933

So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight

issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for

the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. " [citations omitted]

The state respectfully submits that Hitt's challenge to the weight of the evidence presented is essentially an improper attempt to relitigate factual issues, including credibility of the witnesses, properly resolved by the jury. Incorporating by reference the facts set out under the Statement of Substantive Facts, the state asserts the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the motion for new trial. The evidence is not such that allowing the verdict to stand would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice.

Specifically, the state points out that Hitt deliberately "swung" her arm and hit Officer Estess in the eye. As the prosecutor argued during final closing, "Now, whether she intended to hit Moore, or intended to hit Estess, is of no concern. She intended to hit either one of them. It's the same thing. They're both law officers." (T.62) Pursuant to the doctrine of transferred intent, this argument is legally correct. *Bruce v. State*, 746 So.2d 901, 905-06 (Miss.1998) (evidence was sufficient to support murder conviction, even though victim was not defendant's target). Hitt's testimony to the contrary simply created an issue of fact properly resolved by the jurors. No basis exists for disturbing their verdict. Hitt's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

HITT'S CHALLENGE TO THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE INDICTMENT IS WITHOUT MERIT

Hitt finally contends the indictment returned against her is fatally defective for misstating an essential element of the crime charged. The indictment charged in pertinent part that she

5

did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously, purposely and knowingly caused [sic] bodily injury to Patrick Estes [sic], a human being, and an officer with the Philadelphia Police Department, Philadelphia, Mississippi, while the said Patrick Estes [sic] was acting within the scope of his duty as a law enforcement officer with the Philadelphia Police Department, Philadelphia, Mississippi, by striking Patrick Estes [sic] in the face, contrary to an in violation of Section 97-3-7(1)(a), Miss. Code Ann. (1972) ...

"As a general rule, where an indictment tracks the language of a criminal statute it is sufficient to inform the accused of the charge against him." *Calhoun v. State*, 881 So.2d 308, 311 (Miss. App. 2004). The indictment returned against Hitt tracked the language of the offense-defining statute. MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-7(1)(a).

The state submits further that Hitt's argument appears rooted in her failure to recognize the doctrine of transferred intent discussed under Proposition One above. Hitt is laboring under the mistaken premise that the state was required to prove that she had the specific intent to strike Officer Estess. The state alleged and proved that Hitt committed an intentional, unlawful act in bodily injury to Officer Estess. Whether she specifically intended to strike him, or Officer Moore, or both officers is immaterial. See *Dobbins v. State*, 766 So.2d 29, 33 (Miss. 2000), and *Brandon v. State*, 263 S0.2d 560, 562 (Miss. 1972). There is no merit to Hitt's challenge to the sufficiency of the indictment. Her second proposition should be denied.

⁽C.P.3)

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits that the propositions presented by Hitt are without

merit. Accordingly, the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.